No. S248520

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF) Second District Court of
CALIFORNIA,) Appeal No. B276040,
) Division 5
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
) Los Angeles County
vs.) Superior Court Case No.
) TA138027)
STARLETTA PARTEE,)
,) SUPREME COURT
Defendant and Petitioner.	FILED
)
	OCT 2 3 2018
	Jorge Navarrete Clerk
	Deputy
	Decilia

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAUL KLEVEN (SB# 95338) LAW OFFICE OF PAUL KLEVEN 1604 Solano Avenue Berkeley, CA. 94707 (510) 528-7347 Telephone (510) 526-3672 Facsimile Pkleven@Klevenlaw.com

By appointment of the Supreme Court

Attorneys for Petitioner Starletta Partee

INTRODUCTION

On July 11, 2018, this Court granted review on the following issues:

- I. Can a person who refuses to testify in a criminal proceeding be prosecuted and convicted as an accessory to the crime being prosecuted?
- II. Can the refusal to testify in a criminal proceeding constitute sufficient evidence of harboring, concealing or aiding a principal to support a conviction as an accessory under Penal Code section 32?
- III. Does the unprecedented prosecution and conviction of a person as an accessory for refusing to testify in a criminal proceeding violate the separation of powers doctrine?
- IV. Does the unprecedented prosecution and conviction of a person for a crime other than contempt for refusing to testify in a criminal proceeding violate the separation of powers doctrine?
- V. Does the unprecedented prosecution and conviction of a

person as an accessory based solely on her refusal to testify in a criminal proceeding violate the constitutional right to due process?

Courts of Appeal have previously sustained accessory convictions under circumstances similar to this case (*People v. Partee* (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 630, 636), there are no precedents for prosecuting a refusal to provide information to authorities as a violation of Penal Code¹ section 32. California appellate courts have consistently held that to be convicted as a person who "harbors, conceals or aids a principal" (§ 32), a defendant must provide overt, active assistance to that principal which, if the aid consists of statements to authorities, must include active misrepresentations, not mere silence. (*People v. Duty* (1969) 269 Cal.App.2d 97.)

The decision below is contrary to California jurisprudence, to fundamental rules of statutory construction, and to authorities throughout the country. The State's unprecedented prosecution of Petitioner Starletta Partee's refusal to testify as four felony counts of accessory to murder with gang enhancements, rather than as contempt of court, also raises serious due process concerns. The appellate court confirmed her convictions in part because it determined, contrary to *In re McKinney* (1968) 70 Cal.2d 8,

Unless otherwise indicated, all future statutory references are to the Penal Code

that remedies available to prosecutors and courts under the various contempt statutes did not provide adequate coercive and punitive options. (*Partee, supra*, 21 Cal.App.5th at p. 638.) But even if this Court believes the statutory scheme should be reexamined, that job falls to the Legislature, which defines all crimes and punishment in the first instance, not to a deputy district attorney, and not to the courts.

This Court should reverse this unfortunate decision, and prevent prosecutors in the future from attempting to ruin the lives of people like Starletta Partee, who despite being raised in a gang-controlled neighborhood had never been in trouble and was making a good living while attending college, raising her own daughter, and helping to raise the children of others who had not survived the gang environment. Her refusal to testify against her brother and others should have exposed her to contempt charges, not to four felony convictions with gang enhancements.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Los Angeles County District Attorney charged Partee with four counts of being an accessory to murder in violation of section 32, and one count of refusing to testify at a preliminary hearing, a misdemeanor violation of section 166, subdivision (a)(6), all occurring on June 11, 2005. (Clerk's Transcript on Appeal ("CT") 49-51.) The Information further

alleged that the accessory offenses were committed for the benefit of a criminal street gang in violation of section 186.22, subdivision (b)(1)(C). (CT 49-51.) In addition, the Information alleged that the refusal to testify benefitted a gang under section 186.22, subdivision (d), making the violation of section 166 a felony punishable by up to three years. (CT 49, 51.) At the Preliminary Hearing, the magistrate set bail at \$540,000, which was later reduced to \$500,000. (CT 46, 55.)

Partee moved to set aside the information, pursuant to section 995, on the grounds that refusing to testify at trial did not provide reasonable or probable cause for her to be held to answer for violating section 32. (CT 56-72, 75-80, 82-86.) The court denied the motion after determining "there's no law precluding it." (CT 89; Volume 2, Reporter's Transcript on Appeal ("2-RT") A4-A7.) Partee filed a petition for writ of mandate regarding the denial of the section 995 motion, which the Second Appellate District denied. (2-RT 3, 9-11; Case No. B270799, 3/18/16 Order.)

Following trial, a jury found Partee guilty on all counts, but found all of the gang allegations to be untrue. (CT 240-244, 252-255; 5-RT 1888-1892.)

On July 5, 2016, the court suspended imposition of sentence and placed Partee on probation for three years on condition she serve 365 days in county jail, with total credit for time served of 220 days, awarding no

credit for the time spent in custody from Partee's arrest on April 29, 2015, up through the filing of the charges in this matter on August 27, 2015. (CT 3, 277-281; 3-RT 965-966, 977-978, 996, 5-RT 2118-2126.)

Partee timely appealed on July 5, 2016. (CT 282.)

On March 21, 2018, Division Five of the Second Appellate District Court of Appeal affirmed in a split opinion partially certified for publication. (*Partee, supra*, 21 Cal.App.5th 630.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Shooting Incident in Housing Project

On August 30, 2006, Yonathan Johnson and Anthony Owens were in the Imperial Courts housing project where they had grown up. (2-RT 728-729-730, 734.) The area is controlled by the PJ Watts/Project Crips gang. (2-RT 745-747.) After shots rang out, Johnson saw Owens lying on the ground with blood coming out of the back of his head. (2-RT 734-735.) A woman driving in the area around that time heard the gunshots and was followed for awhile by a bluish Chevrolet van. (2-RT 712-716, 717-724.) She told an officer at the time that there were four black men in it. (2-RT 716-717.)

Homicide detective John Skaggs found casings at the scene indicating the use of at least two semiautomatic guns. (3-RT 912-915, 926-

927, 1214-1215, 1217.) Skaggs conducted a recorded interview of Johnson, though he did not tell Johnson the interview was being recorded. (3-RT 917.) According to Skaggs, Johnson said that after hearing the shots he looked over and saw a blue/gray van with two young black males in the front seats. (3-RT 919-920.)

An officer found a van in the nearby Jordan Downs housing project that had been running quite recently. (2-RT 748-750, 3-RT 927-928.)

Between the hood and the windshield of the vehicle, Skaggs found a .40 caliber casing made by Winchester, which also manufactured the casings found at the scene. (3-RT 928-929.) He also found bullet strikes or indents in the driver's door and the rear deck lid gate. (3-RT 1014-1015, 1204, 1212-1214.) Skaggs interviewed a woman who admitted she had driven four men out of Jordan Downs, and was able to identify two from a photo lineup. (2-RT 677, 3-RT 921-922, 952-956, 992-993, 1208-1210.)

B. Detective's Interview of Petitioner

The van was registered to Enterprise Rent-A-Car and had been rented to Partee, who had reported it stolen. (3-RT 930.) Partee had been instructed by Enterprise to report the theft to Hawthorne Police Department, and when she did, Skaggs had Partee brought to his police station, where he conducted an interview that he secretly recorded. (3-RT 930-932, 938, 982, 996; Exhibits 11, 11A.)

Skaggs falsely told Partee that what they discussed was confidential, off the record and just between the two of them. (Supplemental Clerk's Transcript ("SCT") 84-85; 3-RT 984-986.) He also falsely told Partee that he had telephone evidence that contradicted what she was saying. (SCT 38, 45-48; 3-RT 939.) He said, "I know you're afraid," but claimed Partee never said she was afraid to testify. (SCT 49; 3-RT 989, 1004-1007.) Skaggs warned Partee that "any participation you have and any lies to me, in regards to this investigation, is a crime." (SCT 7.)

In the interview, Partee said she was going to school and had recently left a job as an accountant where she was making \$37,000 per year. (SCT 42-43; 3-RT 983.) She discussed her close relationship with twin brothers named Byron and Bryant Clark, and her cousin Toyrion Green, who were members of the Carver Park Crips. (SCT 11-14, 18, 80-84; 3-RT 941-942, 949.) Nehemiah Robinson, Partee's brother had not identified as a gang member but hung out with that gang. (SCT 17-18; 3-RT 941, 949.) Partee said she was not in the gang and had never gang banged. (SCT 18-19; 3-RT 940, 982-983.)

The Clarks were with Partee when she rented the car while hers was being repaired. (SCT 9-14.) Robinson asked to borrow the car one evening to go see a girl. (SCT 17-20, 26, 29.) Partee received a chirp from one of the Clarks the next day, asking her to report the rental car stolen, and to pick

him up at a certain location. (SCT 47-52.) She drove her own car, now repaired, to that location, where she saw the Clarks, Green and Robinson with a girl in a parked green car. (SCT 47-48, 52-55.) The men then moved into Partee's car, which already contained her 6 year old daughter. (SCT 52-55, 59.)

They explained they had gone to the projects because a girl was going to give them some money. (SCT 56-57, 58; 3-RT 942-943; 1010.) When they got there people came out shooting at them while someone else tried to block them, so they had to start shooting, and one of the others may have been killed. (SCT 56-63, 69-70, 90-92; 3-RT 1013.) They had parked the rental car and no longer had any guns. (SCT 58, 62-64.) After getting food for herself and her daughter, Partee dropped them at a hotel with some money. (SCT 71-75.)

At the end of the interview, Skaggs told Partee he hoped to put a case together where he did not need to have her testify against a family member, but that if he could not she would be needed in court. (SCT 84-86; 3-RT 986-987.) Partee was crying, saying she would not testify against her brother and the others. (SCT 85; 3-RT 987-988, 990-991.) She said at first she did not think there would be any danger in telling her story because it was her family, though it would be uncomfortable because she lived in the Carver Park neighborhood. (SCT 86.) She also explained she had been a

witness against her boyfriend's killer, Carver Bones, and had received pressure for that. (SCT 86-883-RT 990.) She was worried if she testified that "they going to go get my family," and she could not have that. (SCT 89.)

C. Petitioner's Testimony

During her own testimony, Partee explained that the year before the shooting in this case she had been a witness to the murder of her boyfriend. (3-RT 1332; 4-RT 1514.) At the request of the district attorney she testified at the preliminary hearing in that case, even though her car was set on fire and she was spit on, attacked at a store, called a snitch, and shunned. (3-RT 1333; 4-RT 1510-1512, 1528-1529.) At trial, she did not testify truthfully to clear her conscience, because she could not send a man away for the rest of his life. (4-RT 1515-1516, 1518-1521, 1530-1531.)

In 2006, Partee had been provided with a loaner car from Enterprise while her own car was being serviced. (3-RT 1304-1305.) She let Robinson borrow it, with the understanding he would return to the house that night. (3-RT 1306-1308.) The Clark brothers were gang members back in 2006, and she believes her cousin Green was as well, though Robinson only became one later. (4-RT 1509-1510.) Her father and uncles were also members. (4-RT 1517-1518.) Although her family includes gang members, Partee herself dislikes gangs and has no affiliation with any gang. (4-RT

1506-1507.)

After Partee could not find the car the next morning (3-RT 1308), she received a call from Bryant Clark, who asked her to report the car stolen and said he would explain later. (3-RT 1310-1312; 4-RT 1524.) She and her six-year-old daughter later went in her own car to meet Clark and the others. (3-RT 1312-1313, 1315, 4-RT 1524.) She picked up Robinson, Green and the Clarks, and was told that they had gone to the projects to meet a girl to give them some money but were attacked and had to shoot their way out. (3-RT 1314-1315, 4-RT 1519.) She asked if the car was damaged or anyone hurt, and was told they thought a man was dead. (3-RT 1314-1315.) After getting food (3-RT 1315-1316), she gave them \$60 and drove them to a hotel. (3-RT 1317.) She knew at the time they were fleeing the scene of a shooting but believed the shooting was in self-defense. (4-RT 1539-1540.)

When Partee contacted the car agency she was told to contact the police, but when she went to the Hawthorne police station to report the robbery she was handcuffed and taken to a holding cell. (3-RT 131-1319; 4-RT 1524-1525.) She was then handcuffed again and taken to another police station, where she was placed in an interrogation room with one hand handcuffed and the other chained to a chair. (3-RT 1319-1320.)

After what seemed like hours, Skaggs came in the room and took her handcuffs off. (3-RT 1320-1321.) From the beginning, Partee said she did

not want to give testimony or be involved. (4-RT 1541-1542.) Skaggs recognized she was putting herself in danger by talking to him. (4-RT 1561.) Skaggs lied to her, saying before she gave a statement that it was between them, off the record, and would not leave there. (4-RT 1514-1515, 1527.) Partee confirmed the accuracy of the tape-recording of the interview. (SCT 2-93; 3-RT 1321-1322.)

D. Period Between Interview and Arrest

Partee testified that, after she made the statement to Skaggs, she was approached by a woman who was friends with the Carver gang, had heard Partee was "snitching on the homies," and said she would kill for them. (3-RT 1333-1334.) Other people have said they knew she was not going to testify, and family members told her, "Just not to testify. Family is first." (3-RT 1333-1334.) She also received telephone calls or texts calling her a snitch and saying she was working for the CIA or the FBI. (3-RT 1334-1335.) When she came to court one day in 2007-2008, a group of women attacked her, resulting in bailiffs using mace on them and her. (3-RT 1322-1324; 4-RT 1543-1544.)

Partee did not appear on May 12, 2008, the day trial was supposed to start, so a bench warrant was issued. (3-RT 963.) The case was dismissed when she could not be served again. (3-RT 963-965, 974-975, 999-100.)

Partee worked full-time at an accounting firm doing payroll, making

close to \$40,000 per year while attending junior college with the hope of transferring to a four year college. (3-RT 1325-1326.) She was working under her true name while her daughter, now an honors student at a magnet school, attended other elementary schools, when she was arrested. (3-RT 1329-1331.)

E. Arrest and Preliminary Hearing

On April 29, 2015, Skaggs heard that Partee was in the area so he had her stopped and arrested for a traffic warrant. (3-RT 965-966, 977-978, 996.) Once Partee was taken to the police department, Skaggs contacted the prosecutor to have new charges filed, along with a subpoena to have her delivered to the court against her will. (3-RT 966-967.)

At a hearing that day, the court held Partee in custody as a material witness pursuant to section 1332 (3-RT 967-968.) During the June 11, 2015 preliminary hearing forty-four days later, the prosecutor presented Partee with an immunity agreement pursuant to section 1324, but her attorney explained she would refuse to be sworn in, had been deprived of medical attention, had asked to see a doctor about a pregnancy, was vomiting blood, and was unable to sleep. (3-RT 903-905, 969-970.) When the court tried to swear her in, Partee remained silent, and the court indicated Partee would remain in custody as long as the court deemed it necessary, which could be years, if she did not answer questions from the

prosecutor. (3-RT 905-906.)

After Partee did not answer questions posed by the prosecutor, the court again ordered her to be sworn in, and then held Partee "in contempt. You are going to be put into custody with no bail until such time as you change your mind." (3-RT 910.) When counsel asked the court to sign a medical order for Partee, the court said, "I'm going to do this now. She's the least of my issues at this point." (3-RT 910.) Partee explained that at a point in the proceedings where the court ordered her to "pay me some respect now," she was not trying to show disrespect to the court, but had her head down, was vomiting, had lost over 30 pounds and was sick due to being in the first trimester of a pregnancy. (3-RT 909; 4-RT 1505-1506.)

Skaggs testified pursuant to Proposition 115 and the defendants were all held to answer. (3-RT 970-972; 1004.)

F. Time in custody, reasons for not testifying

Partee ended up spending seven and a half months in custody before her family and a family friend were able to bail her out. (4-RT 1502., 1535-1536, 1557-1560)²

Partee said that she refused to testify due to her family, her life, and her daughter's life being in jeopardy. (3-RT 1335-1336.) Although she had originally told Skaggs she did not have to worry because family members

Partee lost the baby, though the court struck evidence of the miscarriage as irrelevant. (4-RT 1506.)

were involved, she found out to the contrary that she did have to worry. (3-RT 1335-1336; 4-RT 1528.) She has multiple fears, primarily for her daughter being able to life a good life without being victimized for Partee's actions. (3-RT 1336-1337.) She tearfully told the prosecutor before trial that she was afraid to testify, and that her main fear centered on her daughter. (4-RT 1562-1567.)

Although she denied being offered relocation services until just before her own trial (3-RT 1337), Partee was not interested in relocation because she did not want to leave her family, and she wanted to keep peace in the family. (4-RT 1534-1535, 1551-1553, 1564-1567.) She would not accept immunity because it was impossible to escape her entire family, including her daughter who was trying to get into college, the seven children of her deceased brother, and the two children of her dead boyfriend, for whom she also cared. (3-RT 1337-1338.)

Skaggs continued to try to gather evidence in the murder case after it was refiled in 2015, but said Partee was the only witness who connected all four defendants to the shooting. (3-RT 1001-1003.) At some point, the case against the others was dismissed. (3-RT 970-972; 1004.)

In almost every murder case that Skaggs has brought to court, a witness has failed to appear, recanted or otherwise changed his or her statement due to concerns about self-preservation and fear; while that is

very common in gang cases, this is the only case where the witness has refused to testify. (3-RT 1000-1001, 1203-1204, 1221-1223.) Even when witnesses contradict their recorded statements on the witness stand, they are never prosecuted for perjury. (3-RT 1203-1204.)

ARGUMENT

- I. Convicting a Person of Being an Accessory for Refusing to Testify is Contrary to California Law, the Rules of Statutory Construction, and Authorities Throughout the Country
 - A. Until the Decision in this Case, California Courts Have Required an Accessory to Provide Overt Assistance to a Principal, Including Affirmative Misrepresentations to Authorities, and Have Never Affirmed a Conviction Based on the Refusal to Provide Information

Under California's "tripartite system of government it is the function of the legislative branch to define crimes and prescribe punishments." (*In re Lynch* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 410, 414.) In 1850, the Legislature adopted "An Act Concerning Crimes and Punishment" defining crimes in California. (*People v. Rocha* (1971) 3 Cal.3d 893, 898, fn. 3.) The Act continued the "common law classifications of 'accessory before the fact' and 'accessory after the fact," (*People v. Mitten* (1974) 37 Cal.App.3d 879, 883), defining the latter as a person who "after full knowledge that a crime has been committed, conceals it from the magistrate, or harbors and protects the

person charged with or found guilty of the crime." (*People v. Gassay* (1865) 28 Cal.404, 405-406.) While accessories before the fact were subject to the same punishment as principals, accessories after the fact could not be imprisoned for more than two years. (*Id.* at p. 406.)

The Penal Code of 1872 discarded the common law terminology of accessories before and after the fact. (*Mitten, supra*, 37 Cal.App.3d at p. 883.) Section 31 of the new Code characterized the former as persons who "aid and abet" the commission of a crime and are considered principals in that crime, while section 32 characterized the latter as simply "accessories," while essentially retaining the definition from the 1850 Act. (§§ 30-32, 971; see also Code Commissioners' Notes for §§ 31, 32.)

Since 1935, section 32 has stated:

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