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

ARGUMENT

I. “AIDS” IN THE CONTEXT OF PENAL CODE SECTION 32
ENCOMPASSES THE VIOLATION OF AN ORDER TO TESTIFY
WITH THE SPECIFIC INTENT TO ASSIST A PRINCIPAL EVADE
CONVICTION OR PUNISHMENT

A. Introduction

Penal Code section 32 makes a person an accessory to a completed
felony when that person “harbors, conceals, of aids a principal in such
felony, with the intent that said principal may avoid or escape from arrest,
trial, conviction or punishment” and with knowledge that the principal
committed the felony or has been charged or convicted of it. Appellant

contends that the word “aids,” as used in this statute, applies only to overt
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or affirmative acts of assistance to a principal, and that her refusal to testify
amounted to mere silence or the passive refusal to provide information to
authorities that would not satisfy the statutory requirement. Respondent,
however, has never argued that mere silence or the refusal to provide
information to authorities can support a conviction under section 32. And,
in affirming appellant’s convictions, the Court of Appeal expressly rejected
. the interpretation that mere silence after knowledge of a feldny’s
commission is sufficient to render the party an accessory, holding that
“[s]Jome affirmative act is required . . . such as a false alibi made with the
requisite knowledge and intent,” or “a false statement to police that the
perpetrator acted in self-defense or in the heat of passion.” (People v.
Partee, supra, 21 Cal.App.5th at p. 639.)

Respondent does not now contend otherwise. Rather, as the Court of
Appeal correctly concluded, the refusal to testify when there is a legal duty
to do so is not merely passive, but amounts to overt or affirmative conduct
consistent with the statute’s plain meaning and legislative intent. (See id. at
p. 640 [“Under these circurhistances, [appellant’s] ‘silence’ was an overt or
affirmative act falling within the terms of section 32 because she had a duty
to testify at defendants’ preliminary hearing.”].) Appellant’s statutory
construction arguments therefore do little more that refute a straw-man

argument.?

2 Justice Baker’s dissenting opinion below is grounded on the same
erroneous premise: “Defendant’s conduct was entirely passive—remaining
silent when asked to take the witness oath and saying nothing when the
prosecutor posed a series of questions to see if she would testify. While it
might fairly be said defendant refused to aid the prosecution, that does not
mean she also thereby aided her brother and the other accused men within
the meaning of Penal Code section 32.” (People v. Partee, supra, 21
Cal.App.5th at p. 648.)
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The statute’s plain meaning, as reinforced by legislative intent and
this Court’s interpretive glosses, contemplates that in limited circumstances
the failure to testify, when joined with the requisite specific intent, supports
liability as an accessory after the fact. Appellant’s case falls squarely
within these limited circumstances.

B. The Failure to Act in Violation of a Legal Duty
Generally Supports Criminal Liability

Contrary to appellant’s insiétence, she did much more than simply fail
to report a crime or provide information to authorities. It is undisputed that
she refused to give immunized testimony, even though she had a legal duty
to testify, and she did so with the intent to help her brother, cousin, and
friends evade conviction and punishment. Appellant’s plan succeéded, and
these men were never brought to trial for the murder of Anthony Owens.

An individual who has a legal duty to act can be subject to criminal
liability for failing to take action. The key to such liability is the existence
of a legal duty. “Unlike the imposition of criminal penalties for certain
positive acts, which is based on the statutory proscription of such conduct,
when an individual’s' criminal liability is based on the failure to act, it is
well established that he or she must first be under an existing legal duty to
‘take positive action.” (People v. Heitzman (1994) 9 Cal.4th 189, 197.)

As the Court of Appeal correctly concluded, under California law and
longstanding federal and California Supreme Court precedent, a witness
like appellant “who has been subpoenaed and given immunity that is co-
extensive with the scopé of her Fifth Amendment privilege has a duty to
testify.” (People v. Partee, supra, 21 Cal.App.5th at pp. 639-640, citing
§ 1324; Kastigar v. United States (1972) 406 U.S; 441, 453, and People v.
Smith (2003) 30 Cal.4th 581, 624.) “The duty to testify has long been
recognized as a basic obligation that every citizen owes his Government.

(United States v. Calandra (1974) 414 U.S. 338, 345.) “Witnesses under’

b3
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subpoena and present in court have a duty to testify in accordance with the
rules of evidence, a duty trial courts have the power to enforce.” (People v.
Smith (2003) 30 Cal.4th 581, 624.) “The duty to testify may on occasion be
burdensome and even embarrassing. . . . Yet the duty to testify has been
regarded as ‘so necessary to the administration of justice’ that the witness’
personal interest in privacy must yield to the public’s overriding interest in
full disclosure.” (United States v. Calandra, supra, 414 U.S. at p. 345,
citation omitted.)

Although appellant repeatedly inischaracterizes her actions as a mere
failure to report a crime to authorities, which there is no legal to duty to do,
it is undisputed that she was called to testify at the June 11, 2015,
preliminary hearing, grantéd immunity, and ordered to be sworn in and
answer questions. (3RT 903-904, 969.) Nonetheless, appellant remained
silent when the court attempted to swear her in, and she refused to answer
the prosecutor’s questions. (3RT 905-906, 908.) Moreover, she engaged in
- this conduct—refusing to testify in the face of a legal duty—with
knowledge of the murder and the intent to help her brother, cousin and
friends evade conviction. Such conduct is a far cry from the much more
common situation faced by prosecutors and courts when a witness refuses
to testify or feigns ignorance based on fears of retribution.

C. The Failure to Testify in Violation of a Court Order,
with the Intent to Help Another Evade Prosecution, Is
Affirmative Conduct that Amounts to Aiding within the
Meaning of Section 32

Reviewing courts independently determine issues of law, such as the
interpretation and construction of statutory language. (Bruns v. E-
Commerce (2011) 51 Cal.4th 717, 724.)

It is well settled that the objective of statutory construction is to
ascertain and effectuate legislative intent. (Horwich v. Superior Court

(1999) 21 Cal.4th 272, 276.) Because the statutory language is generally
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the most reliable indicator of intent, a reviewing court looks first to the
words of the statute, giving them their usual and ordinary meaning and
construing them in in the context of the statutory scheme. (People v.
Johnson (2015) 61 Cal.4th 674, 682; see also Madrigal v. Victim
Compensation and Government Claims Board (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 1108,
1113 [“[t]he words must be construed in context and in light of the statute’s
obvious nature and purpose,” and “[t]he terms of the statute must be given a
reasonable and commonsense interpretation that is consistent with the
Legislature’s apparent purpose and intention.”].) If the language of the
statute is ambiguous and supports more than one reasonable interpretation,
a reviewing court looks to dvariety of extrinsic aids, including the objects
to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative histbry, the statutory
scheme of which the statute is a part, and contemporaneous administrative
construction, as well as questions of public policy. (Inre Derrick B. (2006)
39 Cal.4th 535, 539.)
The language used in Penal Code section 32 is neither ambiguous nor

‘subject to more than one interpretation. It defines an accessory as a person
who “aids” a prinéipal after the commission of a felony with the intent that
the principal escape conviction:

Every person who, after a felony has been committed, harbors,
conceals or aids in such felony, with the intent that said principal
may avoid or escape from arrest, trial, conviction or punishment,
having knowledge that said principal has committed such felony
or has been charged with such felony or convicted thereof, is an
accessory to such felony. :

“The word ‘aids’ has not beén specifically defined by either statute or
case authority in the context of section 32; however, that word has been
defined by case authority in the context of section 31 (in the context of
defining the phrase ‘aiding and abetting’) . ...” (People v. Elliot (1993) 14
Cal.App.4th 1633, 1641.) “The word ‘aids’ means ‘to assist; to supplement
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the efforts of another,’. . .” (Ibid.) That reasonable and commonsense
interpretation fully comports with the .statute’s obvious nature and purpose
of punishing people who knowingly and intentionally help felons evade
arrest, trial, conviction or punishment. Thgrefore, this Court should use the
ordinary meaning of the word “aids”—to assist or to supplement the efforts

- of another—in determining the conduct the Législature intended section 32 -
to encompass. '

The legislative history of section 32, although limited, also supports
an “ordinary meaning” interpretation of the word “aids,” as opposed to the
much narrower definition suggested by appellant. When the California
Penal Code was enacted in 1872, section 32 defined accessories without
including one who “aids”: “All persons who, after full knowledge that a_
felony has been éommitted, conceal it from the magistrate, or harbor and
protect the person charged with or convicted thereof, are accessories.”

This section was amended to its current form in 1935. The amended
section expanded the prohibited conduct from harboriﬁg and concealing to
harboring, concealing, and aiding a principal, as it appears in the current
version of the statute. In addition, it added the requirement that an
accessory act with the intent that the principal “avoid or escape from arrest,
trial, conviction or punishment.” In making these changes, it ié reasonable
to infer that the Legislature intended to expand section 32 to include
conduct beyond that of harboring and concealing, while at the same time
limiting the application of section 32 to individuals with the requisite intent.
Appellant identifies hothing in the (admittedly sparse) legislative history .
indicating an intent to apply a specialized definition of “aids” that would
encompass the making of affirmative misrcpfeéentations to authorities,
while excluding overt refusals to testify in violation of a legal duty.
Certainly, appellant fails to undercut the reasonable inference that the

Legislature intended to expand the scope of liability beyond those who
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harbor and conceal to those who provide aid in the word’s ordinary sense—
a sense that would reasonably encompass both types of conduct. Moreover,
by adding a specific intent requirement applicable to all three categories of
conduct, the Legislaturé provided reasonable limits on the circumstances in
which aiding would support criminal liability for accessories.?
In her effort to limit the definition of “aids” in the context of section
32, appellant argues that this court should apply the principles of statutory
construction known as ejusdem generis and noscitur a socciis. (AOB 23-
25.) In essence, both of these principles state that “when a statute contains
a list or catalogue of items, a court should determine the meaning of each
by reference to the others, giving preference td an interpretation that
uniformly treats items similar in nature and scope.” (Moore v. California
Bd. of Accountability (1992) 2 Cal.4th 999, 1011-1012.) Under these
canons, “a court will adopt a restrictive meaning of a listed item if
acceptance of a more expansive meaning would make other items in the list
unnecessary or redundant, or would otherwise make the item markedly
dissimilar to the other items in the list.” (/d. at p. 1012.) However, as this
Court cautions, “[c]anons of construction—such as the noscitur a sociis
canon underscoring the value of considering terms in a list in their statutory
‘context—are not mechanical devices, but instead tools that can help us do
what we always aspire to do when construing a statute: avoid redundancies,
reach a reasonable conclusion about the meaning of terms, and give effect
to the Legislature’s purpose.” (People v. Garcia (2016) 62 Cal.4th 1116,
1123-1124.)

3 This distinction tends to refute Justice Baker’s argument in dissent
below that application of section 32 to persons like appellant means that
“accessory charges for recalcitrant witnesses are now fair game.” (People
v. Partee, supra, 21 Cal.App.5th at p. 652 (conc. opn. of Baker, J.)
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Recourse to these two canons is unnecessary here because they apply
only when needed to resolve some ambiguity in the statute: “‘The rule of
ejusdem generis, while firmly established, is only an instrumentality for
ascertaining the correct meaning of words when there is uncertainty.””
(United States v. Powell (1975) 423 U.S. 87, 91, quoting Gooch v. United
States (1936) 297 U.S. 124, 128; see Inre Corrine W. (2009) 45 Cal.4th
522, 531 [noting the principle of ejusdem generis is merely “helpful” only
‘when “no better indication of legislative intent is available™].) Appellant
relies on these canons to establish that aiding was not meant to encompass |
mere silence or passive failure to provide information, but—iike harboring
and concealing—requires overt or affirmative assistance. (OBM at 23-26.)
Again, neither respondent nor the Court of Appeal has interpreted “aids” in '
section 32 as encorhpassing wholly passive conduct. Thus, to the extent
appellant relies on these interpretive canons to show that the Legislature
intended that aiding did not extend to mere silence or the passive refusal to
provide information to authorities, she is refuting an argument of her own
creation.

At the other extreme, to the extent appellant argues that section 32
contemplates that aiding must be the functional equivalent of harboring or
concealing (see OBM at 24-25), any reliance on these interpretive canons is
misplaced. Such canons cannot be used “‘to defeat the obvious purpose of
legislation.”” (United States v. Powell, supra, 423 U.S. at p. 91, quoting
Gooch v. United States, supra, 297 U.S. at p. 128.) By adding the term
“aids” to the previously-included “harbors” and “conceals,” the Legislature
broadened the statute’s scope beyond the latter kinds of conduct. In
contrast, appellant argues that cases holding that an affirmative
misrepresentation to authorities amounts to more than passive
nondisclosure somehow implies a widely held understanding that violating

a court order to testify with section 32’s requisite intent does not. Such a
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rigid application of interpretive canons would defeat the legislative purpose
of section 32 by excluding conduct presumptively within the statute’s plain
meaning.

Courts have previously rejected similar arguments. The Court of
Appeal in People v. Lee (1968) 260 Cal.App.2d 836 held that these
princip‘les could not be applied to undermine legislative intent. There, the
defendant challenged his conviction for violating Health and Safety Code
section 11556. That section étated: “Itis uniawful to visit or to be in any
room or place where any narcotics are being unlawfully smoked or used
with knowledge that such activity is occurring.” The defendan‘t, who was
arrested in a car, argued that a car was not a “place” within the meaning of
the statute. He argued “that since the general word ‘place’ follows ’the
more specific word ‘room’ in section 11556, then, under the rule of
ejusdem generis, the general word (place) should be limited to spaces-
similar to the specific word (room).” (/d. at p. 840.) The court was not
. persuaded:

It is apparent that said section 11556 was enacted as an aid in
eliminating or controlling traffic in narcotics, and that the word
“place,” as used in the section, was intended to designate a
~ location or space other than that which is ordinarily referred to

as a room in a building or structure. If the word “place,” as used
-therein, were to be interpreted, under the doctrine of ejusdem
generis, as meaning a room in a building, it is apparent that such
an interpretation would tend to defeat the legislative purpose of
eliminating or controlling traffic in narcotics. Appellant’s
asserted interpretation of the word ‘place,’ as used in the section,
is not sustainable.

(Id. at p. 841.)

In People v. Kelly (2007) 154 Cal. App.4th 961, the court addressed
whether box cutters, flashlights, or slingshots qualiﬁed as burglary tools
within the meaning of “other instrument or tool” in section 466. The court

rejécted the analysis in People v. Gordon (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 1409,
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which applied the principle of ejusdem generis to conclude that a ceramic
spark plug chip did not fall within the meaning of “other instrument or
tool” because it was not similar to the other tools specifically enumerated in
the statute. (Id. at pp. 966-967.) The Kelly court reasoned as follows:

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